
       
       

CITY COUNCIL 
REGULAR MEETING PACKET 

March 2, 2026 @ 6:00pm Heritage Hall in Smith Park  

 
1.  Call to Order:   Mayor William Lindsey
2.  Roll Call:   Clerk of Council 
3.  Invocation:    
4.  Pledge of Allegiance: All 
5.  Action on Minutes:        02/17/26 Regular Meeting 
6.  Communications:            
7.  City Manager Report:    Attached 
8.     Committee Reports: None 
9.  Comments from Members of the Public: *Comments limited to 5 minutes or less

10. RESOLUTIONS: (1-Intro; – 1-Action*) 
*A. Resolution 2026-07R (Introduction, Public Hearing, and Action Tonight)  
A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING AN ADDENDUM TO THE CONTRACT WITH SWIMSAFE POOL 
MANAGEMENT, INC. FOR THE 2026 POOL SEASON 
 

 
11. ORDINANCES: (0-Intro; – 1-Action*) 
*A. Ordinance 2026-07 (Introduced on 02/17/2026. Public Hearing, and Action Tonight) 
AN ORDINANCE APPROVING AN EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT WITH DONALD R. HALL III 

 
 
   12.  OTHER BUSINESS: 

o Additional City Business: 
§ Records Retention Schedule for City Council and Clerk 
§ Open for Discussion on City Related Business 

13. Executive Session:   

14. Return to Regular Session:   

15. Adjournment: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Next Regular Council Meeting is Monday, March 16, 2026 @ Heritage Hall in Smith Park. 6:00PM 
Next Special Council Meeting is Monday, March 23, 2026 @ Heritage Hall in Smith Park. 6:00PM 



  2/17/26 

RECORD OF PROCEDING 

MINUTES: CITY OF NEW CARLISLE, OHIO  

REGULAR SESSION MEETING @ Heritage Hall on 2/17/26 @ 6:00 pm 

 

1. Call to Order: Mayor Lindsey calls the meeting to order. 

2. Roll Call: Stapleton calls the roll – Lindsey, Cook, Bahun, Grow, Eggleston, Shamy, 6 Members 

present, Absent: Wright 

3. Invocation: Pastor David Perry 

4. Pledge of Allegiance: All are welcome to participate 

5. Action on Minutes: 

Action on Regular Session minutes of 2/2/26: 1st: Shamy, 2nd: Bahun, YES: Grow, Eggleston, 

Shamy, Lindsey, Cook Bahun NAY: 0 ABSENT: Wright Accepted 6-0-1 

6. Communications :  

➢ Councilwoman Grow gave an update on the Social Service Commission – discussed guests that 

attended previous meeting. Expressed thanks to all that helped to shovel snow for neighbors! 

We appreciate you! 

7. City Manager’s Report:  

 
8. Committee Reports: 

 

  
 

 
 



  2/17/26 

               
 

   

  
 

Motion to accept Finance Report: 1st: Grow 2nd: Shamy YES: Lindsey, Cook, Bahun, Grow, 

Eggleston, Shamy NAY: 0 ABSENT: Wright Accepted 6-0-1 

 

 
Motion to accept Mayors Court Report: 1st: Shamy 2nd: Grow YES: Eggleston, Shamy, Lindsey, 

Cook, Bahun, Grow NAY: 0 ABSENT: Wright Accepted 6-0-1 

 

Mr. Hall began reviewing the City Manager’s report: 

• Upcoming legislation will include 4 moratoriums which are on the agenda tonight. A brief 

explanation of the moratoriums is to temporarily suspend services / items. If want to be 

permanent, you need to consider including it in the codes. 

• Mr. Moore has been working very hard on the Comprehensive Plan should have a draft by 

next council meeting. Decided to use March 23rd as a work session for open discussion. At 

this time, we need to decide what we do and don’t want in our city, such as: Fast food, big 

box stores, etc. Once we have discussed we can look to plan for a Town Hall in April and vote 

on the Comprehensive Plan at that time. Additional discussion on getting the citizens input 

on the comprehensive plan. Mr. Moore to create an online survey for the community to give 

input. 

• United Senior Service update- Steve Massie is the newly appointed director. He was unaware 

of the situation in New Carlisle – scheduled to meet with him on Thursday. He does have 



  2/17/26 

intention of attending a council meeting and / or social service commission meeting as well. 

Council discussed New Carlisle not getting their share of services out of the tax monies we 

are contributing. 

• Website update: Over the past summer – the State mandated that all city websites need to 

be ADA accessible by April 2027. Administration has met with a 3rd party company that has a 

lot of experience in this work, and they presented a lot of improvements that can be made 

to our website. The cost would be $15k the first year, and then $5k maintenance fee 

annually after that. Will continue to investigate this. 

• Firework update: Fireworks will be on the same day (June 27th) at the same time and place. 

Still working on the exact display, Mr. Kitko continues to work on this. Reminder that 

firework pricing has gone up due to 35% tariffs. 

• Mr. Hall reviewed a recent award that was presented to Ms. Harris from the State of Ohio for 

a great 2024 fiscal year. This is an honor to receive and proof of her dedication and hard 

work. Mayor Lindsey spoke of the appreciation for her work over these years. Ms. Harris 

commended her team for their work and support. 

9. Comments from Members of the Public (Comments less than 5 minutes) 

• Charlotte Farley, 1204 Hemlock Way: Questioned the ADA compliance for city buildings. 

State Mr. Hall and Mr. Moore are doing a great job and looking forward to doing more work 

with the Social Serve Commission and working with councilwoman Grow. 

10. RESOLUTIONS: (1 - Intro; - 1- Action*) 

*A. Resolution 2026-06R (Introduction, Public Hearing, and Action Tonight)  

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE PURCHASE OF A NEW 2026 RAM 5500 DUMP TRUCK 1st: Shamy 2nd: 

Grow YES: Eggleston, Shamy, Lindsey, Cook, Bahun, Grow NAY: 0 ABSENT: Wright Accepted 6-0-1 ex: 

Long overdue purchase for the public works department, will be purchased locally from Toby Auto Group 

11. ORDINANCES: (1-Intro; – 4-Action*) 

*A. Ordinance 2026-03 (Introduced on 02/02/26. Public Hearing, and Action Tonight)  

AN ORDINANCE EXTENDING A MORATORIUM ON NEW VAPE SHOPS WITHIN THE CITY OF NEW CARLISLE, 

OHIO 1st: Shamy 2nd: Eggleston YES: Shamy, Lindsey, Cook, Bahun, Grow, Eggleston NAY: 0 ABSENT: 

Wright Accepted: 6-0-1 ex: Extension of the current vape shop moratorium – City Manager and Law 

director to look into making this permanent. 

*B. Ordinance 2026-04 (Introduced on 02/02/26. Public Hearing, and Action Tonight)  

AN ORDINANCE EXTENDING THE MORATORIUM ON CANNABIS OPERATIONS WITHIN THE CITY OF NEW 

CARLISLE, OHIO 1st: Shamy 2nd: Grow YES: Shamy, Lindsey, Cook, Bahun, Grow NAY: Eggleston ABSENT: 

Wright Accepted 5-1-1 ex: Extension of the current cannabis moratorium – Council requested Mr. Moore 

to include questions about this on the online community survey as well to include some community 

input. 

*C. Ordinance 2026-05 (Introduced on 02/02/26. Public Hearing, and Action Tonight)  

AN ORDINANCE ESTABLISHING A MORATORIUM ON SMALL SOLAR FACILITIES WITHIN THE CITY OF NEW 

CARLISLE, OHIO 1st: Eggleston 2nd: Shamy YES: Lindsey, Bahun, Grow, Eggleston, Shamy NAY: Cook 

ABSENT: Wright Accepted 5-1-1 ex: Establish a moratorium on solar farms within the city 

*D. Ordinance 2026-06 (Introduced on 02/02/26. Public Hearing, and Action Tonight)  

AN ORDINANCE ESTABLISHING A MORATORIUM ON DATA CENTERS WITHIN THE CITY OF NEW CARLISLE, 

OHIO 1st: Shamy 2nd: Grow YES: Eggleston, Shamy, Lindsey, Cook, Bahun, Grow NAY: 0 ABSENT: Wright 

Accepted 6-0-1 ex: Establish a moratorium on data centers. Requested Mr. Hall to find some subject 

matter experts on these topics for possible discussion before any of these are made permanent. 

E. Ordinance 2026-07 (Introduction Tonight. Public Hearing, and Action on 03/02/26)  

AN ORDINANCE APPROVING AN EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT WITH DONALD R. HALL III  

12. Other Business: 

Additional City Business 

• Open for Discussion on City Related Business: 

 Council discussed other items they would like to see moratoriums for such as: Dollar 

stores, large commercial franchises, gas stations, tattoo parlors, garage sale stores, 

out of state LLC’s buying property for rentals etc. These items will feed into the 

comprehensive plan and what we want the city identity to be – need to continue to 

things we want and what we want to limit. 

 Another item to think of is the vacant properties both commercial and residential. 

Mr. Moore discussed the vacant property registry and explained how it works and its 

benefits. Mr. Moore continues gathering more information about this topic. 



  2/17/26 

 Mr. Hall suggested not to make decisions based on tax dollars, but looking at citizens 

as investors in this city, we need to protect our investors by making the city the best 

it can be. A good ROI will maximize everyone’s investment. 

13. Executive Session:  

14. Return to Regular Session:  

15. Adjournment: 1st Shamy 2nd: Grow at 7:20pm YES: Eggleston, Shamy, Lindsey, Cook, Bahun, Grow 

NAY: 0 ABSENT: Wright Accepted 6-0-1 

 

 

 

Mayor William R. Lindsey     Clerk of Council Christine Stapleton 

 



 
   City Manager Report  

March 2, 2026 
 
 

A. DEPARTMENTAL REPORTS 
 

• The Following Departmental Reports will be given at the next City Council meeting that will be held 
on Monday, March 16, 2026; Finance, Public Service, Fire/EMS, Police, Planning & Zoning, and 
Mayor's Court Report. 
 
 
 

     B. INFORMATIONAL ITEMS 
 

o Discussion Topics 
■ USS Update 
■ Church Update 
■ Rumpke Update 
■ Comprehensive Plan Timeline 

◊ Attached 
■ General Funston Historical Marker  

◊ Application Attached 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
Attachment Summary:  

Comprehensive Plan Timeline 
Ohio Historical Marker Application 

                                      
                                      

                                           
                                       

 
                                  
 

       Motion summary:   
Records Retention Schedule     

o Motion to Approve: Records Retention Schedule   (1st  ; 2nd  ;  to  ) (P/F) 

o Motion to Authorize Christine Stapleton to Sign as the responsible official   

                                                                  (1st  ; 2nd  ;  to  ) (P/F) 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



MARCH 3RD APRIL 16,
2026

(TENTATIVE)

MARCH 23RDMARCH 12TH APRIL 1ST-
APRIL 30TH

MAY 11  OR
MAY 25TH

TH

Provide Directors,
Law Enforcement,
Fire, & Law Director a
copy for review and
provide adjustments
as needed. 

The work session is
design for council to
offer suggestions on
adding or taking away
from the draft. This
meeting will also
introduce the survey.

Council will recieve
the first draft of the
Comp Plan to review.

Survey will be
distributed via
Website, Social
Media, Newsletter,
Water Bill and
Handouts at the
Library Community to come

in and voice ideas,
opinions and
direction for the
Comp Plan

Discuss any changes
that need to be made
based off the survey
results. 

Introduction of
Legislation

COMPREHENISVE PLAN
TIMELINE

Pr
oj

ec
t 

St
ar

t

JUNE 1ST JUNE 15TH JULY 6TH

Staff Review Survey
Distribution

Council Final
Draft Review

First Draft to
Council

Community
Open House

Legislation
Intro

Council Work
Session

Legislation
Action

Council Work
Session

Pr
oj

ec
t 

Fi
ni

sh

Regular Council
Meeting to finalize
any changes and
discusssion. 

Action on Legislation























 
 

RESOLUTION 2026-07R 
 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING AN ADDENDUM TO THE CONTRACT WITH 
SWIMSAFE POOL MANAGEMENT, INC. FOR THE 2026 POOL SEASON 

 
 WHEREAS, on December 15, 2025, Council adopted Resolution 2025-18R authorizing a 
contract with SwimSafe Pool Management, Inc. (“SwimSafe”) for the operation and management of the 
New Carlisle Swimming Pool for the 2026 Pool Season (“SwimSafe Contract”); and 

 
WHEREAS, the SwimSafe Contract establishes the compensation to be paid to SwimSafe for 

services provided during the 2026 pool season; and 
 
WHEREAS, City administration has been advised that the handling of revenue and 

compensation for swim lessons differs from what is set forth in the SwimSafe Contract; and 
 
WHEREAS, the gross revenue for swim lessons is anticipated to be no more than Two 

Thousand Dollars ($2,000.00), with estimated net revenue of Eight Hundred Dollars ($800.00) or less 
for the 2026 Pool Season; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City desires to enter into the attached addendum to the SwimSafe Contract to 

clarify the parties’ respective rights and responsibilities concerning swim lessons. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY OF NEW CARLISLE HEREBY RESOLVES that: 

  
SECTION 1.  The City Manager, or the Director of Public Service/Assistant City Manager as the 

City Manager’s designee, is authorized and directed to enter into the attached addendum to the 
SwimSafe Contract, substantially in the form attached hereto, and to take all actions necessary to carry 
out the intent of this Resolution. 

 
SECTION 2. Except as expressly modified by the addendum, all terms and conditions of the 

SwimSafe Contract shall remain in full force and effect. 
 
   

Passed this ____________ day of _______________, 2026. 
 

 
____________________________                                                     

                                         William R. Lindsey, Mayor 
 

____________________________               
Christine Stapleton, Clerk of Council 

 



APPROVED AS TO FORM:  
  
_______________________________    
Jake Jeffries, Law Director 
        
    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Introduction, First Reading and Action:  03/02/2026 
Effective Date of Legislation:   03/17/2026 
 
 

 



 
 

ADDENDUM TO SWIMMING POOL MANAGEMENT AND MAINTENANCE AGREEMENT 
 

This Addendum (“Addendum”) is entered into by and between SWIMSAFE POOL 
MANAGEMENT, INC. (“SSPM”) and the CITY OF NEW CARLISLE (“Client”) and is incorporated into and 
made part of the Swimming Pool Management and Maintenance Agreement entered into between the 
parties with an effective date of January 1, 2026 (the “Agreement”). 

Except as expressly modified herein, all terms and conditions of the Agreement shall remain in 
full force and effect. 

PURPOSE OF ADDENDUM 

 SSPM and Client have entered into an Agreement whereby SSPM will provide pool 
management, maintenance, operation and other reasonably related services to the Client (the 
“Services”); and 

 SSPM’s Services include managing and providing swim lessons (“Swim Lessons”); and 

 This Addendum clarifies the parties’ rights and responsibilities with respect to Swim Lessons. 

 NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants set forth below, the parties agree 
as follows: 

1. COLLECTION AND HANDLING OF REVENUE 

 (a) SSPM shall manage registrations and collect the fees for Swim Lessons on behalf of 
Client.  All revenues for Swim Lessons are collected for the benefit of Client. 

 (b) All revenues from the Swim Lessons shall be separately tracked.  SSPM shall maintain 
accounting practices sufficient to identify all receipts, refunds, processing charges and instructor 
payments associated with Swim Lessons. 

2. NET SWIM LESSON REVENUE 
 
 (a) SSPM may deduct only the following expenses from the gross revenue of the Swim 
Lessons: 
 

(1) Actual third-party online registration and payment processing fees for the Swim 
Lessons; and 

  (2) Compensation paid to instructors for the Swim Lessons. 



 
 (b) No other expenses or fees may be deducted from the gross revenue of the Swim 
Lessons. 
 
 (c) The remaining balance after the permitted deductions shall be defined as “Net Swim 
Lesson Revenue.”   
 
3. SCHEDULE FOR SWIM LESSONS 
 
 The schedule for the Swim Lessons set forth in Exhibit A to this Addendum replaces and 
supersedes any swim lesson schedule contained in the Agreement. 
 
4. ACCOUNTING, REPORTING AND DISTRIBUTION 
 
 (a) Within thirty (30) days following the conclusion of all Swim Lessons set forth on Exhibit 
A, SSPM shall provide Client with a written accounting that includes, at a minimum: 
 
  (1)  Number of registrants and refunds issued; 
  (2) Gross revenue collected from Swim Lessons; 
  (3) Itemized permitted deductions; 
  (4) Net Swim Lesson Revenue; and 
  (5) Distribution owed to Client, if any. 
 
 (b) If the Net Swim Lesson Revenue equals or exceeds Five Hundred Dollars ($500.00), 
SSPM and Client shall each receive fifty percent (50%) of such Net Swim Lesson Revenue. 
 
 (c) If the Net Swim Lesson Revenue is less than Five Hundred Dollars ($500.00), SSPM shall 
retain the Net Swim Lesson Revenue and no payment shall be owed to Client. 
 
 (d) Any payment owed to Client shall be remitted within thirty (30) days after submission of 
the accounting described herein. 
 
5. NO MODIFICATION OF BASE COMPENSATION 
 
 This Addendum establishes only a revenue-sharing arrangement for Swim Lessons and does not 
modify SSPM’s compensation under Section 2 of the Agreement. 
 
6. CONFLICTS; INCORPORATION 
 
 This Addendum is adopted pursuant to Section 6(c) and 19 of the Agreement.  In the event of 
any conflict between this Addendum and the Agreement, this Addendum shall control solely with 
respect to Swim Lessons. 

 



 
CITY OF NEW CARLISLE SWIMSAFE POOL MANAGEMENT, INC. 
   
 
_______________________________                       __________________________________ 
By: Donald R Hall III 
Its: City of Manager 
 
Approved as to Form: 
 
_______________________________ 
Jacob M Jeffries, Director of Law 

 

http://www.arx.com/about-cosign-digital-signatures
http://www.arx.com/about-cosign-digital-signatures
http://www.arx.com/about-cosign-digital-signatures


EXHIBIT A 
 

Session Days Dates Times Levels 

1 Mon-Thur June 1 - June 11 
10:30-11am 3,4 

11am-11:30am 1,2 

2 Mon-Thur June 15 - June 25 
10:30-11am 3,4 

11am-11:30am 1,2 

3 Mon-Thur July 6 - July 16 
10:30-11am 3,4 

11am-11:30am 1,2 
 
 



 
 

  

 
ORDINANCE 2026-07 

 
AN ORDINANCE APPROVING AN EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT WITH DONALD R. HALL III 

 
WHEREAS, Article V, Section 5.01 of the City Charter requires Council to appoint a City 

Manager for a definite or an indefinite term and to fix the City Manager’s compensation; and  
 
WHEREAS, Donald R. Hall III began serving as City Manager on April 14, 2025; and 
 
WHEREAS, Council has determined that Donald R. Hall III has met Council’s goals and 

objectives established for the City Manager; and 
 

WHEREAS, Council desires to enter into a new Employment Agreement with Donald R. Hall 
III; and  

 
WHEREAS, the attached Employment Agreement sets forth certain benefits, conditions and 

expectations of the employment of Donald R. Hall III as City Manager; and 
 
WHEREAS, Council believes that entering into a new Employment Agreement with Donald R. 

Hall III is in the best interest of the City of New Carlisle. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY OF NEW CARLISLE HEREBY ORDAINS that: 
 
Section 1.  The appointment of Donald R. Hall III as the City Manager shall be continued 

under the terms and conditions set forth in the attached Employment Agreement. 
 
Section 2.  Council hereby authorizes and directs the Mayor, on behalf of Council, to execute 

and enter into the attached Employment Agreement with Donald R. Hall III. 
 
Section 3. The effective date of the Employment Agreement is April 14, 2026. 

 
 Passed this ________ day of _____________, 2026. 
 

 
 
      ______________________________ 
       William R. Lindsey, Mayor 
 
 
      ______________________________ 
      Christine Stapleton, Clerk of Council 
 

 



 
 

  

 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
___________________________________   
Jake Jeffries, Law Director 

 
 
Introduction and First Reading: 02/17/2026 
Second Reading and Action:        03/02/2026 
Effective Date of Legislation:      03/17/2026      

 



 
 

  

 
EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 

FOR THE POSITION OF NEW CARLISLE CITY MANAGER 
 
This Employment Agreement ("Agreement") is made by and between Donald R. Hall III ("Manager" 
and/or "Donald R. Hall III") and the City of New Carlisle, Ohio ("Council" and/or "City") effective 
April 14, 2026. 
 
WHEREAS, Article V of the New Carlisle City Charter creates the position of and provides for the 
appointment and employment of a City Manager; and 
 
WHEREAS, Article V, Section 5.02 states that the City Manager is the chief administrative officer of 
the City; and 
 
WHEREAS, both Council and Donald R. Hall III desire to continue Manager’s employment as the City 
Manager; and  
 
WHEREAS, Council and Manager are entering into this Agreement for the purpose of setting forth the 
terms and conditions of Manager’s employment. 
 
NOW THEREFORE, CITY AND MANAGER AGREE AS FOLLOWS: 
 
1.  Continued Appointment 
 

Donald R. Hall III shall continue his employment as the City Manager of the City of New 
Carlisle, Ohio. 
 
2.  Duties and Hours of Work 
 

In his capacity as City Manager, Donald R. Hall III will be the chief administrative officer of 
New Carlisle and responsible to Council for the administration of all municipal affairs placed in his 
charge by the New Carlisle City Charter, the ordinances and resolutions of Council, and applicable state 
and federal laws. 
 

In addition to the powers, duties and functions set forth in Section 5.02 of the New Carlisle City 
Charter, Manager shall perform to the best of his ability such other duties as Council may from time to 
time require of him to the satisfaction of Council. 
 

Council and Manager may periodically develop mutually agreed upon goals, the performance of 
which will be considered when determining whether the Manager has fulfilled such other duties as may 
be required by Council. 
 

Manager is expected to devote his full time to performing the duties of his position and shall 
create a work schedule necessary to fulfill his obligations as the City Manager.  It is further recognized 
by the parties that Manager must devote time outside normal business hours to effectively serve as the 
City Manager.  Manager is not eligible for overtime, but Manager may accumulate compensatory time 



 
 

  

in accordance with the City’s generally applicable compensatory time policies for exempt employees as 
set forth in the City’s employee handbook, as it may be amended from time to time. 

 
The employment provided for in this Agreement shall be Manager’s sole employment. 
 

3. Conflict of Interest  
 

A "Conflict of Interest" occurs when the Manager’s private interests could undermine his duties 
and obligations to the City as set forth in this Agreement.  If Manager becomes aware of an actual or a 
potential Conflict of Interest, he shall immediately bring it to the attention of Council.  Failure to 
promptly bring an actual or a potential Conflict of Interest to the attention of Council may result in 
discipline, up to and including termination.  
 
4. Term of Agreement and Renewal 
 

Manager shall perform the duties provided herein for an initial term of twenty-four (24) months 
commencing April 14, 2026 and ending April 13, 2028 ("Initial Term"), unless his employment is 
terminated earlier by Manager or Council as set forth herein.  Unless either Council or Manager 
provides written notice to the other at least ninety (90) days prior to the end of the Initial Term, this 
Agreement shall be extended on the same terms and conditions as herein provided for an additional 
period of twelve (12) months.  Said Agreement shall continue thereafter for successive twelve (12) 
month periods unless written notice of non-renewal is given at least ninety (90) days prior to the 
expiration of the then-current term.  Any term after the Initial Term shall be known as a “Successor 
Term.”      
 
5.  Salary 
 

(A)  Salary.  Except as otherwise set forth herein, Manager's annual base salary for the Initial 
Term and any Successor Term shall be One Hundred Twenty-Six Thousand Five Hundred Dollars 
($126,500.00), payable in installments and in accordance with the City’s current payroll schedule. 
 

(B)  Salary Adjustment.  Manager’s annual base salary for the Initial Term or any Successor 
Term may be increased or decreased by Council; however, Council shall not reduce Manager’s annual 
base salary below $126,500.00 without the prior written consent of the Manager, except upon (i) a 
determination by the Director of Finance and (ii) the passage of an ordinance, by the affirmative vote of 
at least five (5) members of Council, finding that such reduction is financially necessary and in the best 
interest of the City.  Any reduction in salary in violation of this subsection shall constitute a material 
breach for purposes of Section 9(B)(iii). 

 
(C)  Automobile Allowance.  In lieu of the personal car mileage reimbursement set forth in 

the City’s Business Travel/Personal Use of Government Equipment Policy, Manager will receive a 
monthly automobile expense allowance of Five Hundred Dollars ($500.00).  Additionally, Manager is 
entitled to use available City vehicles for City business.  



 
 

  

 
6.  Performance Review 
 

(A)  Periodic Reviews.  Council, collectively, may periodically review the performance of the 
Manager from time to time as it deems appropriate in its sole discretion, and present any such review to 
Manager for consideration and further action as may be appropriate.  Council may, among other criteria, 
utilize said evaluation as the basis for such action as Council may determine is warranted, provided 
however that Manager is given reasonable advance notice and opportunity to address such issues prior to 
the taking of any such action. 
 

(B)  Review Procedure.  The procedure to evaluate the performance of the Manager  
and Manager’s salary review will be as set forth in Section 220.03 of the Codified Ordinances, as it may 
be amended from time to time.  Council will endeavor, but is not required, to conduct an evaluation and 
salary review during the first quarter of each calendar year.     

 
(C) Effect of No Evaluation and Review.  If no evaluation and salary review under Section 

220.03 of the Codified Ordinances is completed by Council during the Initial Term or any Successor 
Term, then Manager will receive an increase to his annual salary, for the immediately following term, in 
an amount equal to Three Percent (3%) of the Manager’s annual salary during the term in which Council 
did not complete the evaluation and salary review. 
 
7. Benefits 
 

(A)  Employee Benefits.  Manager is entitled to the same Employee Benefits provided to the 
City’s other full-time, non-union employees under the City’s employee handbook, as it may be amended 
from time to time, and such other additional Employee Benefits as Council may approve.  Manager’s 
Employee Benefits include the following: (1) retirement; (2) sick, vacation and personal leave; and (3) 
health, dental, vision, life and disability insurance.  

Manager shall be entitled to two (2) extra weeks of vacation in addition to the four (4) weeks of 
vacation granted to exempt employees under the City’s employee handbook, for a total of six (6) weeks 
per calendar year.  Provided however, vacation may accrue to a maximum of eight (8) weeks of 
accumulation.  The two (2) additional weeks of vacation granted to the Manager under this Section shall 
be for use as time off only and shall not be eligible for payout, cash-out or other monetary compensation 
under any circumstances. 
 

(B)  Professional Development.  The City shall budget and pay for the reasonable travel and 
subsistence expenses of the Manager for professional and official travel, meetings, seminars, courses 
and other functions adequate to continue the professional development of the Manager and to adequately 
pursue necessary official functions for the City, including but not limited to the OCMA Annual 
Conference, the ICMA Annual Conference within the continental United States, and the Ohio Municipal 
League.  The activities set forth in this subsection shall be subject to the discretion of the Manager; 
however, any such expenses shall be within the constraints of the approved budget, which shall be 
established in Council’s sole discretion. 
 

(C)  Civic Organizations. Council agrees to budget and pay for the reasonable fees necessary 
for the Manager to become or continue being an active member in any local civic organization (e.g., 



 
 

  

Rotary, Optimist, etc.) necessary and desirable for his continued professional participation growth and 
advancement, and for the good of the City.   
 
8. Termination 
 

(A)  Termination by Council.  Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, 
Council may terminate Manager’s employment with or without cause at any time provided Council 
follows the procedures set forth in Section 5.04 of the New Carlisle City Charter.   
 

(B)  Termination by Manager.  Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, 
Manager may voluntarily end his employment at any time provided he notifies Council at least sixty 
(60) days in advance. 

 
(C) Notice of Termination.  Notice of termination by either party must be in writing and 

delivered to the other party.  
 
9. Effect of Termination and Severance Pay 
 

(A) Applicability of Severance upon Termination by Council.  In the event that Manager’s 
employment is terminated by Council prior to the expiration of the Initial Term or any Successor Term 
and if at such time the Manager remains willing and able, and not prohibited by Ohio law, to perform 
the duties of the City Manager under the terms of this Agreement, then Council agrees to pay the 
Manager severance equal to three (3) months of aggregate salary and to permit Manager to continue 
participating in the City’s health insurance plan, by subsidizing the cost of the coverage so that Manager 
will only be obligated to pay the same amount that active employees pay for the same level of coverage, 
for three (3) months; provided, however, that if the Manager’s employment is terminated for “Unlawful 
conduct” or “Gross misconduct that is willful and deliberate on the Manager’s part and is materially 
injurious to the City,” then Council shall have no obligation to pay the Manager severance or to permit 
his continued participation in the City’s health insurance plan.   
 

(i) “Unlawful conduct” means the Manager is convicted of a felony, or any misdemeanor 
involving personal gain, dishonesty or moral turpitude. 

 
(ii) “Gross misconduct that is willful and deliberate on the Manager’s part and is materially 

injurious to the City” means any or all of the following: 
 

a. Failure of the Manager to cure a material breach of this Agreement within forty-
five (45) days of receiving written notice from Council of said breach;  

b. More than three (3) instances of material breach by Manager for the same or 
similar conduct during a 12-month period, provided Council promptly provides 
written notice after each breach to Manager; 

c. Theft or misappropriation of City property; 
d. Breach of fiduciary duty;  
e. Non-disclosure of a conflict of interest; and/or 
f. Any other intentional act or omission involving dishonesty, fraud or a knowing 

violation of law that materially harms the City. 



 
 

  

 
(B)   Constructive Termination by Council.  Manager’s employment shall be deemed 

terminated by Council if Manager provides at least sixty (60) days’ advance written notice of resignation 
to Council promptly after the occurrence of, and in no event later than thirty (30) days after Manager 
knew or reasonably should have known of, one or more of the following events: 
 

(i) Failure of Council to cure a material breach of this Agreement within forty-five 
(45) days of receiving written notice from Manager of said breach;  

(ii) More than three (3) instances of material breach by Council for the same or 
similar conduct during a 12-month period, provided Manager promptly provides 
written notice after each breach to Council; 

(iii) Without the Manager’s prior consent, reducing Manager’s salary or other benefits 
in violation of Section 5(B) or by a percentage greater than an applicable across-
the-board reduction for all exempt City employees; and/or 

(iv) Council and/or the City’s citizens act(s) to amend any provisions of the City’s 
Charter pertaining to the role, powers, duties, authority or responsibilities of the 
Manager in a way that substantially changes the form of government of the City. 

 
Upon Manager’s termination and resignation under this subsection, Manager will be entitled to 

severance pay for three (3) months and continued participation in the City’s health insurance plan for 
three (3) months.  
 

(C) Notice of Breach.  Notice of a material breach by either party must be in writing and 
delivered to the other party. 
 

(D) Effect of Termination by Manager.  Except as otherwise stated herein, if Manager elects 
to terminate his employment early during the Initial Term or any Successor Term, then he will not be 
entitled to severance pay or continuation of health insurance coverage. 
 

(E) Effect of Election Not to Renew.  If either party elects not to renew this Agreement 
during the Initial Term or any Successor Term, then Manager will not be entitled to severance or 
continuation of health insurance coverage solely by reason of such non-renewal.  Upon expiration of the 
term, Manager shall continue to serve as City Manager unless and until Council terminates Manager’s 
employment in accordance with Section 5.04 of the New Carlisle City Charter or Manager resigns.  
Manager’s continued service after non-renewal shall be on an at-will basis and shall not be deemed to 
extend or renew this Agreement. 
 

(F) Effect of Pending Criminal Charge.  If Manager is criminally charged with an offense 
that would justify termination for Unlawful conduct if convicted and Council terminates Manager’s 
employment prior to resolution of the offense, then any severance payment shall be held in escrow until 
such time as the criminal charge is resolved.  If Manager thereafter is convicted of the offense, then 
Council shall have no obligation to pay any severance to Manager. 
 

(G) Form and Timing of Severance Payments.  Any severance payment will be less tax 
withholding and other required deductions.  Severance will be paid in installments and in accordance 
with the City’s current payroll schedule; however, Council may choose, in its sole discretion, to pay any 



 
 

  

severance required herein in one or more lump sum installments instead.  If Council decides to pay any 
of Manager’s severance as a lump sum, such lump sum payment(s) will not shorten Manager’s 
participation in City’s health insurance plan.  Additionally and to the extent permitted by Ohio law, no 
claim for unemployment may be made by Manager until the expiration of the 3-month period regardless 
of when the severance is actually paid. 
 

(H) Vested Benefits.  Upon termination of his employment, Manager will receive any vested 
benefits to which he is entitled under the City’s employee handbook, as it may be amended from time to 
time. 
 

(I) Release.  Any severance pay or continuation of health insurance coverage set forth in this 
Agreement shall be contingent upon the Manager’s prompt execution and delivery of a written release of 
claims, approved by the City’s Director of Law, releasing the City and its council, employees, agents 
and representatives from any and all past, present and future causes of action, complaints and claims the 
Manager may have against the City except for the payment of any outstanding severance or vested 
benefits and continuation of health insurance coverage. 
 
10. Council Supervision 
 
 Manager shall comply with any and all policies, rules, regulations, standards and directions 
established by Council not in conflict with the New Carlisle City Charter, the City’s Codified 
Ordinances, or state or federal law. 
 
11. Application of Charter and Codified Ordinances 
 

This Agreement shall be subject to the provisions of the New Carlisle City Charter which shall 
prevail over any contrary provisions contained in this Agreement unless specifically stated otherwise.  
Both parties agree to abide by the City’s Charter and its Codified Ordinances. 
 
12. Arbitration 
 
 In consideration of the employment of Manager by City, the Manager and City agree that any 
dispute, claim or controversy between them, including without limitation disputes, claims or 
controversies arising out of or relating to this Agreement or Manager’s employment with the City or the 
termination of that employment, shall be settled exclusively by final and binding arbitration in 
accordance with Ohio Rev. Code § 2711.01, et. seq.  Arbitration under this Agreement will be 
conducted in Clark County, Ohio by a panel of three arbitrators without strict compliance to the Rules of 
Evidence, but affording each party a fair opportunity to present evidence and cross-examine witnesses.  
Each party shall select one qualified arbitrator of that party’s choice, and the two chosen arbitrators shall 
then agree upon a third qualified arbitrator to serve as chairperson of the panel.  The decision of the 
arbitration panel will be final and binding on both parties.   Any court having jurisdiction may enter 
judgment upon the award the arbitration panel renders.  Manager and City hereby irrevocably submit to 
the jurisdiction of the Court of Common Pleas, Clark County, Ohio for purposes of entry of any 
judgment upon any award rendered by the arbitration panel.  Each party shall be responsible for one-half 
of the costs of arbitration, including arbitrator fees and administrative costs.  Any recovery shall be 
limited to actual damages only. 



 
 

  

 Notwithstanding anything above to the contrary, Manager and City each specifically reserve the 
right to seek injunctive relief from any court of competent jurisdiction in the event that the Manager or 
City is about to suffer irreparable harm due to a violation by the other party of any right protected by 
law. 
 
13. Indemnification 
 

In accordance with Ohio Rev. Code § 2744.07, City shall defend and indemnify Manager in 
connection with all civil proceedings in any state or federal court to recover damages for injury, death or 
loss to persons or property allegedly caused by an act or omission of the Manager in connection with the 
performance of a governmental or proprietary function provided the act or omission occurred or is 
alleged to have occurred while Manager was acting in good faith and not manifestly outside the scope of 
his employment or official responsibilities. 
 

City shall provide and pay for any surety or other bonds required by City’s insurance carrier that 
secure performance of any function by the Manager. 

 
14. Residency 
 
 Manager is not required to be a resident of the City of New Carlisle during the Initial Term or 
any Successor Term of this Agreement. 
 
15. Notices 
 
 All notices required under this Agreement must be given in writing, and shall be deemed to have 
been sufficiently given if personally delivered or mailed by certified mail, postage prepaid – return 
receipt requested, to the party to whom such notice is intended, as follows: 
 
 If to Council:   Mailed or Personally Delivered to -  

  Mayor, City of New Carlisle 
     331 S. Church St. 
     New Carlisle, OH 45344 
 
     AND 
 
                                      Copy E-Mailed (with confirmation of receipt) to -  
     Jacob M. Jeffries, Attorney at Law 
     E-Mail:  jake@jhlawohio.com 
 
 If to Manager:   Mailed or Personally Delivered to -  

  Donald R. Hall III 
     331 S. Church St. 
     New Carlisle, OH 45344 

 



 
 

  

 
16. General Provisions 
 

(A)   Integration.  This Agreement represents the complete understanding between Council and 
Manager and cannot be modified in any respect unless such modification is evidenced by a written 
instrument signed by both parties. Manager agrees that in entering into this Agreement he does not rely 
on any statements or representations not contained in this Agreement.  This Agreement supersedes any 
and all prior agreements, arrangements and understandings between Manager and the Council. 
 
 (B) Severability.  The parties hereto agree that in case one or more of the provisions 
contained herein shall for any reason be unenforceable, invalid, or illegal in any respect, such 
unenforceability, invalidity or illegality shall not affect any other provision of this Agreement. 
Furthermore, it is understood and agreed that this Agreement shall be construed as if such 
unenforceable, invalid or illegal provision had not been contained herein or, if it is equitable under the 
circumstances, such unenforceable, invalid or illegal provision shall be reformed, amended and/or 
construed so as to be enforceable, valid or legal. 
 
 (C) Binding Effect.  Notwithstanding any provision herein prohibiting assignment, this 
Agreement shall be binding upon the Manager and his heirs, assigns, executors, administrators, personal 
representatives and successors in interest. 
 
 (D) Construction.  This Agreement shall be construed and enforced in accordance with the 
laws of the State of Ohio, and shall be construed according to its fair meaning and not construed for or 
against either party by virtue of that party’s role in drafting this Agreement.  Both parties acknowledge 
participating in the drafting of this Agreement. 
 
 (E) Headings.  The headings used in this Agreement are included solely for convenience and 
shall not affect, or be used in connection with, the interpretation of this Agreement. 
 
 (F) Waiver.  The failure of either party to exercise any rights available to it, whether arising 
under this Agreement or otherwise, shall not be deemed for any purpose to constitute a waiver by the 
party of any such right or remedy associated with it, and shall not relieve the other party of the other 
party’s obligations and duties arising under this Agreement. 
 
 (G) Assignment.  This Agreement may not be assigned by either party without the prior 
written consent of the other party. 
 
 (H) Survival.  Sections 9, 12, 13 and 16 shall survive termination or expiration of this 
Agreement. 

 



 
 

  

 
IN WITNESS HEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement effective as of the date 

first above written. 
 
 
 
 

 
CITY OF NEW CARLISLE, OHIO   MANAGER 
 
_____________________________    ___________________________ 
William R. Lindsey, Mayor    Donald R. Hall III 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
____________________________ 
Jacob M. Jeffries, Law Director 
 
  

Approved via Ordinance Number 2026-_____ and adopted by Council on March 2, 2026. 
 

CERTIFICATION 
 
This shall certify that the funds required to meet the municipality's obligations set forth herein during the 
fiscal year in which this contract is made or obligation incurred, has been lawfully appropriated for such 
purpose and is in the treasury or in process of collection to the credit of an appropriate fund free from 
any previous encumbrance. Ref. R.C. 5705.41. 
 



SAO-/LGRP- RC-2 (Part 1 & 2), Revised May 2024

Ohio History Connection 
State Archives of Ohio
Local Government Records Program
800 E. 17th Avenue 
Columbus, Ohio 43211-2474
614.297.2553
localrecs@ohiohistory.org
www.ohiohistory.org/lgr

Page 1 of

RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE (RC- 2) Part 1 
See instructions before completing this form. Must be submitted with PART 2

Section A: Local Government Unit

(Local Government Entity) (Unit/Department) 

(Signature of Responsible Official) (Name) (Title) (Date)

Section B: Records Commission

Records Commission

(Telephone Number)

(Address) (City) (Zip Code) (County) 

To have this form returned to the Records Commission electronically, include an email address:

I hereby certify that our records commission met in an open meeting, as required by the Ohio Revised Code, §121.22, and 
approved the schedules listed on this form and any continuation sheets. I further certify that our commission will make every
effort to prevent these records series from being destroyed, transferred, or otherwise disposed of in violation of these schedules 
and that no record will be knowingly disposed of which pertains to any pending legal case, claim, action or request. This action is 
reflected in the minutes kept by this commission.

Records Commission Chair Signature   Date

Section C: Ohio History Connection - State Archives

Signature Title Date

Section D: Auditor of State

Signature Title Date

Please Note: The State Archives retains RC-2 forms permanently. It is strongly recommended that the Records
Commission retains a permanent copy of this form

jake@jhlawohio.com



Page 2 of

Section E: RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE (RC- 2)
See instructions before completing this form.

Part 2

SAO-/LGRP- RC-2 (Part 1 & 2), Revised May 2024

(Local Government Entity) (Unit/Department) 

(1)
Schedule
Number

(2)
Record Title and Description

(3)
Retention 

Period

(4)
Media Type

(5)
For use by 
Auditor of 
State or 
LGRP

(6)
Forr usee byy 
LGRPP only 

RC-3 
Required

City of New Carlisle City Council and Clerk of Council's Office



Page 3 of

Section E: RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE (RC- 2)
See instructions before completing this form.

Part 2

SAO-/LGRP- RC-2 (Part 1 & 2), Revised May 2024

(Local Government Entity) (Unit/Department) 

(1)
Schedule
Number

(2)
Record Title and Description

(3)
Retention 

Period

(4)
Media Type

(5)
For use by 
Auditor of 
State or 
LGRP

(6)
Forr usee byy 
LGRPP only 

RC-3 
Required

City of New Carlisle City Council and Clerk of Council's Office



Page 4 of

Section E: RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE (RC- 2)
See instructions before completing this form.

Part 2

SAO-/LGRP- RC-2 (Part 1 & 2), Revised May 2024

(Local Government Entity) (Unit/Department) 

(1)
Schedule
Number

(2)
Record Title and Description

(3)
Retention 

Period

(4)
Media Type

(5)
For use by 
Auditor of 
State or 
LGRP

(6)
Forr usee byy 
LGRPP only 

RC-3 
Required

City of New Carlisle City Council and Clerk of Council's Office




